FILED

11/12/2024 Bowen Greenwood CLERK OF THE SUPREME COURT STATE OF MONTANA

Case Number: DA 24-0284

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MONTANA

No. DA 24-0284

STATE OF MONTANA,

Plaintiff and Appellee,

v.

RYAN PATRICK DONAHUE,

Defendant and Appellant.

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

On Appeal from Montana Eighteenth Judicial District Court, Gallatin County The Honorable Peter B. Ohman Presiding

APPEARANCES:

Nicholas Miller Avignone, Banick & Williams 3825 Valley Commons Dr., Suite 6 Bozeman, Montana 59718 Ph: (406) 586-8330 Fax: (406) 586-8242 nmiller@abwlaw.net Austin Knudsen Montana Attorney General 215 N. Sanders P.O. Box 201401 Helena, MT 597820-1401

ISSUES PRESENTED

- I. Whether the district court erred in excluding evidence of the alleged victim's propensity for violence and testimonial biases?
- II. Whether the district court erred in denying a new trial in light of the clerk of court's jury summoning procedures?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal from the district court's Judgment entered on March 5, 2024, following a jury trial.

On December 10, 2021, the State charged Appellant Ryan Patrick Donahue ("Donahue") by Information with Count I: Assault with a Weapon, a felony, in violation of Montana Code Annotated § 45-5-213 and Count II: Carrying a Concealed Weapon While Under the Influence, a misdemeanor, in violation of Montana Code Annotated § 45-8-327, both alleged to have been committed on November 22, 2021. The alleged victim was an individual named Marcus Joshlin ("Joshlin"). Doc. 3.

Donahue, an off-duty agent with the Drug Enforcement Administration (DEA), was accused of pointing a gun at Joshlin, causing reasonable apprehension of serious injury. Doc. 1. Donahue asserted the affirmative defense that he was justified in his use of force for self-defense. Doc. 34.

Evidence showed that Joshlin had a self-admitted propensity for violence and being a fighter, which Donahue moved *in limine* to admit at trial. Donahue also moved to admit Joshlin's active warrants and unresolved criminal cases. Doc. 84, Motion *in Limine*, attached as Appendix A. The Court denied these portions of the motion and excluded the evidence. Tr. 9/6/23, at 8-10; Tr. 9/7/23, at 198-99. (Transcripts relevant to this appeal are attached as Appendix E).

The Jury convicted Donahue on both counts over his asserted self-defense claim. After trial, Donahue learned of possible errors in the jury-summoning process used by the clerk of court, and moved for a new trial. Doc. 100. After a hearing, the Court denied the motion and set the case for sentencing. The Court deferred sentencing for three years on Count 1, and issued a six month suspended sentence on Count 2, with conditions. Doc. 126, 3/5/24 Sentencing Order, attached as Appendix B.

Donahue appeals.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Pretrial and Trial Motions to Admit Evidence

Donahue moved preemptively to admit evidence as to Joshlin's violent character as relevant to Donahue's self-defense claim, and Joshlin's unresolved warrants and criminal cases as bearing on his motivations and biases in testifying. App. A.

During the investigation of the case, Joshlin made unsolicited comments to the officers on scene that "I fight," "I fight a lot," "I like to fight," or some

variation thereof, over a dozen times. App. A, at 1-2. The State did not contest that Joshlin had made the statements relevant to his violent character. Additionally, Joshlin had been a suspect roughly two months prior in a September 13, 2021 investigation for assault, by the same officers investigating Donahue, and had lied to those officers on various topics ("September incident"). App. A, at 2-3. Joshlin had been charged related to the September incident, and still had not resolved the case. App. A, at 3.

Donahue moved *in limine* to admit this evidence at trial, under various theories of admissibility, both as to Joshlin's admitted character for violence as well as the specifics of the September incident and the fact that Joshlin had missed court and had warrants from the September incident. App. A, at 3 and Ex. C. The district court ruled that the incidents of untruthfulness during the September incident were admissible, the lies Joshlin told to the officers, but excluded the remaining evidence related to Joshlin's violent character (both admitted and from the September incident) and the unresolved nature of his legal matters. Tr. 9/6/23, at 8-11.

As trial unfolded, Joshlin and Donahue testified as to the events of the evening of November 22, 2021. The two recounted having met as strangers at a bar in Bozeman, drinking together, and continuing to a different bar where the alleged offenses occurred, the Haufbrau Bar.

Although the accounts of Joshlin and Donahue differed on various points, where they really diverged for the purposes of the criminal allegations and this appeal, are toward the end of the evening. Joshlin testified that he was essentially ready to part ways with Mr. Donahue, and that he intended to leave the bar with some girls to continue his evening of socializing. He testified that Donahue was not invited, and Donahue's reaction was to become angry, to pull a gun on Joshlin, demanding to be invited along. Tr. 9/6/23, at 205-208, 214-15. Joshlin denied he had made any threats, or said anything at all that would have provoked such a response. *Id.*; Tr. 9/6/23, at 247.

Donahue, by contrast, testified that at some point during the evening at the Haufbrau, Joshlin disclosed that he was involved in selling cocaine. Tr. 9/7/23, at 204-205. This caused Donahue to tell Joshlin that he was an agent with the DEA, and to stop associating with Joshlin. Tr. 9/7/23, at 151-52.

While Joshlin subsequently testified that he agreed he had at least discussed his history of drug distribution, he denied being involved currently in drug sales or having stated that to Donahue. Tr. 9/7/23, at 203.

Following this interaction Donahue testified that he no longer had any interaction with Joshlin until leaving the bar. Tr. 9/7/23, at 152. Donahue testified that when he tried to leave the bar, having just admitted a federal felony offense to

an active DEA agent, Joshlin intercepted him and threatened to kill him. Tr. 9/7/23, at 153-54.

Donahue testified that based on his experience and training, the nature of Joshlin's threat, the manner in which it was made, Joshlin's physical posture, their proximity, and other factors, that he very much considered the threat to be a real threat against his person. He testified that he pulled a firearm on Joshlin at this point to address and stop the threat on his life. Tr. 9/7/23, at 154-58.

Following this testimony, given the stark differences in the testimony and Donahue's unequivocal assertion of justified use of force, Donahue renewed his motion with the Court to admit Joshlin's violent character, his propensity for violence, but not any specific instances of violence. The Court again denied the motion. Tr. 9/7/23, at 197-200.

Post-trial Motion for a New Trial

Following trial, undersigned counsel and practitioners in Gallatin County in general became aware of a burgeoning issue related to jury summoning problems when the Eighteenth Judicial district courts began vacating trials in Gallatin County. Doc. 100, at 1. As such, Donahue filed a motion for a new trial on October 10, 2023. Doc. 100.

Response and reply briefing ensued, but the issue was still largely unfolding, so the district court held a hearing on December 22, 2023 to determine the facts. Testimony was taken and seven exhibits were admitted, which are attached as Appendix C. The testimony and exhibits from December 22, 2023 establish the following facts.

The Clerk of the Eighteenth Judicial District Court ("Clerk") summons a single annual pool of jury for all district courts in the judicial district. This annual pool varies in size from year to year, based on historical jury trial needs of the district. Tr. 12/22/23, at 12-15. The annual term for a jury pool is July 1 through June 30 of the following year. Tr. 12/22/23, at 11.

In April of each calendar year, the Clerk sends a request to the Montana Office of the Court Administrator ("OCA") for a specific number of juror names based on these needs. Tr. 12/22/23, at 8-9. OCA in turn randomly pulls that number of juror names from the entire pool of registered voters and driver's license and State identification card holders residing in the County who meet juror eligibility requirements. Tr. 12/22/23, at 9-10. This list is provided to the Clerk generally in mid-to-late April of each year. Tr. 12/22/23, at 9.

For the July 1, 2023 through June 30, 2024 jury term, from which Donahue's trial jury was drawn, the Clerk requested and received a list of 10,000 names from OCA. Tr. 12/22/23, at 11. Upon receiving the list from OCA, the Clerk mailed postcards to the 10,000 potential jurors in the first week of May, 2023. Tr. 12/22/23, at 16-18. The postcard requested that the potential jurors go online to fill out a questionnaire as to their eligibility requirements, or alternatively telephone or email the Clerk to request a paper copy. The mailing did not request a return mailing from the potential jurors. Tr. 12/22/23, at 19-20, App. C at 1.

The only means of response offered by the Clerk's notice were telephonic, online, or email (even if a physical copy were desired), and if a potential juror did not respond, they were excluded from potential jury service. App. C, at 1; Tr. 12/22/23, at 60.

The Clerk received responses from some potential jurors, but not from others. Of the potential jurors who responded, they are either removed from the jury term for some reason or are available based on their response and submitted questionnaire. The responding jurors who were removed were either excused for a term, permanently excused, or were removed because they had moved out of the County, were deceased, or the postcard was returned as undeliverable without a forwarding address. Tr. 12/22/23, at 25.

The Clerk used a software system from which trial juries were drawn. When the initial list of 10,000 names is received, the jurors are not categorized into groups yet and instead are defaulted to a status of "none." Tr. 12/22/23, at 24. As potential jurors respond, they were then put into groups within this software system. The first group worth noting is "available with questionnaire." *Id.* This is the group of people who responded to the postcard mailing by submitting a questionnaire and have either not requested excusal or the judge has denied or deferred an excusal decision. Tr. 12/22/23, at 24-25.

As of July 1, 2023, the "available with questionnaire" group included 3,522 names. Tr. 12/22/23, at 26. It was this group of people who then constituted the pool of trial jurors. Tr. 12/22/23, at 28-29.

People who are removed from jury service are given other designations, the three primary and largest groups being excusal only for that annual term (850 names as of July 1, 2023), permanent excusal (266 names as of July 1, 2023), and those who have moved out of the jurisdiction (1,086 names as of July 1, 2023). Tr. 12/22/23, at 33-34.

The Clerk generally forwards requests for excusal to the judges of the District for review. Tr. 12/22/23, at 53. However, if a potential juror specifies any dates they wish not to serve on a jury, the Clerk simply marks the person as unavailable for those dates but otherwise puts the person in the "available with questionnaire" group without involving a judge. This selective removal for specified dates is granted without exception by the Clerk, so long as the potential juror gives dates. It might be for a sporting event, a holiday weekend, or no stated reason at all, and the issue is not presented to a judge for review. It is unknown how many of these excuses were given. Tr. 12/22/23, at 53-55.

Prior to the trial in this case, those who did not respond to the postcard were left in the software system without a designation, as "none," and were not used when pulling a trial jury. Tr. 12/22/23, at 48. The "available with questionnaire" group is the group from which trial juries were drawn prior to September 8, 2023, including the jury for Donahue's trial. Tr. 12/22/23, at 28-29.

The "available with questionnaire" group diminishes in size as the term goes on due to people being called for trials. Tr. 12/22/23, at 32-35. The "available with questionnaire" group from which trial juries were drawn included approximately 2,935 names as of August 15, 2023 when the jury was pulled in Donahue's case. Tr. 12/22/23, at 32.

Sometime apparently in late August or early September 2023, the Clerk became aware of issues in Cascade and Flathead Counties related to a failure to certify non-responding jurors to the Sheriff's office for personal service. Tr. 12/22/23, at 42. As such, The Clerk began compiling a list of non-responsive jurors for certification to the Sheriff, and the Clerk testified the process took three days. Tr. 12/22/23, at 47-48. The names of non-responding jurors were not certified to the Sheriff's office until September 8, 2023, the day on which Donahue's trial concluded. A total of 3,759 names were certified to the Sheriff for personal service on that date. Tr. 12/22/23, at 35-36, 47.

As such, the issue was known and remedial efforts were underway on or about September 5, 2023, prior to the start of trial in this case. The issue was not brought to the attention of the Court or counsel for either party.

The Clerk testified that prior to September there had been no plan in place to address the non-responding jurors or to certify a list of non-respondents to the Sheriff. Tr. 12/22/23, at 50. The Clerk testified that the process could have been completed prior to the July 1, 2023 start of the jury term. Tr. 12/22/23, at 50-51.

The procedure for calling trial juries changed on or about September 8, 2023. After that date, those who had not responded to the postcard were given a designation of "available <u>without</u> questionnaire" and were included in the pool of people from which trial juries are drawn. Tr. 12/22/23, at 48, 60-61. If their names were drawn, the Sheriff expedited attempts to serve them.

However, when Donahue's trial occurred, only those who had responded and were marked "available with questionnaire" were used as potential jurors, which included 2,935 names. Tr. 12/22/23, at 32, 60-61. Conversely the number of excluded, unavailable jurors as of September 8, 2023 was 3,759 people. Tr. 12/22/23, at 64-65.

Testimony was also taken from the Gallatin County Sheriff's Office civil service division, Christine Koosman ("Koosman"), who had been in the position

since 2016. Tr. 12/22/23, at 68, 71. Koosman testified that only two previous times during her tenure had a list of non-responsive jurors been received from the Clerk's office, once in 2016 and once in 2020. Tr. 12/22/23, at 71.

Koosman noted staffing issues make it difficult to serve everyone on the list of 3,759 people received this year from the Clerk, as the Sheriff's office only serves an average of 3,000 documents annually. Tr. 12/22/23, at 69, 76. Koosman acknowledged that if service of non-responsive jurors were done consistently every year, with planning and coordination from the Clerk's office, the staff shortage could be addressed through budgeting, as the Sheriff's Office is a public agency. Tr. 12/22/23, at 79-80.

Koosman further testified that the Sheriff's office affirmatively reaches out to the Clerk every year to see if they should be expecting a list of non-responsive jurors to serve. Tr. 12/22/23, at 79. Despite this annual reminder, the Clerk's office had provided a list only in three of the preceding eight jury terms (2016, 2020, and then on September 8, 2023). Tr. 12/22/23, at 70-71, 78.

As of the December 22, 2023 hearing, Koosman testified that the Sheriff's Office had subsequently attempted to serve 573 people from the list received from the Clerk. Tr. 12/22/23, at 83. A breakdown of the Sheriff's results, as of the December, 2023 hearing was:

- 322 Questionnaires received
- 2 Deceased
- 20 GCSO unable to serve
- 91 Moved out of Jurisdiction
- 62 Term Excused
- 8 Permanently Excused
- 2 Refusing to fill out questionnaire
- 66 Served but no questionnaire still received

Tr. 12/22/23, at 38-41, 57; App. C, at 17

The Sheriff's Office continued to attempt service on non-responding jurors as needed throughout the duration of the jury term. Tr. 12/22/23, at 83. Koosman testified that the Sheriff's office has means and access to databases and information to effectuate service beyond a simple address from a driver's license or voter registration. Tr. 12/22/23, at 80-81.

Following the hearing, the State and Donahue submitted their arguments on the motion for the district court's consideration, Docs. 116 and 116.1, attached as Appendix D, laying out the legal theories of each party. The district court denied the motion on February 1, 2024. Doc. 117, attached as App. F.

The court proceeded to sentencing on March 5, 2024, and this appeal ensues.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

District courts generally retain broad discretion when ruling on the admissibility of evidence at trial subject to review for an abuse of discretion.

Courts are nonetheless bound by applicable rules of evidence and statutes on evidence admissibility, and a ruling based on application of an evidentiary rule or statute is subject to *de novo* review. *State v. Daniels*, 2011 MT 278, ¶ 11, 362 Mont. 426, 265 P.3d 623.

The denial of a motion for new trial alleging violations in the formation of a jury is a conclusion of law, and is reviewed for correctness. *State v. LaMere*, 2000 MT 45, ¶ 14, 298 Mont. 358, 2 P.3d 204.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

That Joshlin has a propensity and character for violent conduct is not speculative, or from a third party, it was admitted repeatedly and profusely by Joshlin to the investigating officers. Donahue was prevented from informing the jury about Joshlin's violent character, which went to the heart of the issue in this case where a claim of self-defense was determined by the jury. The crux of the case was for the jury to determine credibility between the incompatible testimonies of Joshlin and Donahue, in a 'he-said, he-said' situation. Because this Court has held that such evidence is admissible, the conviction should be reversed.

Joshlin's motivations to testify, in the nature of his warrants and unresolved criminal cases, was also admissible as bearing on his credibility which was critical for the jury to analyze in reaching a verdict.

The district court erred in denying Donahue's motion for a new trial, because the Clerk's process allowed jurors to self-select, used only disapproved methods of jury summoning, and excluded a huge swath of the annual jury pool from service in Donahue's trial.

ARGUMENT

I. THE COURT ERRED WHEN IT EXCLUDED EVIDENCE OF THE VIOLENT CHARACTER OF THE ALLEGED VICTIM AND TESTIMONIAL BIASES.

A. <u>Character for Violence Admissible</u>

Joshlin's self-admitted character as a violent individual is admissible. Mont. R. Evid. 404(a)(2). An alleged victim's "character for violence [is] admissible ... as a 'pertinent' character trait vis-a-vis [a] justifiable use of force defense." *State v. Sattler*, 1998 MT 57, ¶ 43, 288 Mont. 79, 95, 956 P.2d 54, 64. This rule allows character testimony, but does not always allow specific instances of conduct, which Donahue did not seek to admit under this prong of his motion. Mont. R. Evid 405.

Joshlin repeatedly stated he had a violent tendency, that he fought a lot, and that indeed he enjoyed fighting. There were over a dozen such statements made, putting his violent character on obvious display. This violent character was pertinent and admissible under *Sattler* and Mont. R. Ev. 404(a)(2).

As noted above, the central issue for the jury to resolve was weighing the directly conflicting testimony of Joshlin and Donahue. Joshlin, who claimed he was assaulted because Donahue was upset about not being invited to an after-party, and Donahue, who described a violent threat from Joshlin that necessitated a use of force. Donahue should have been permitted to show the jury Joshlin's violent character which was directly relevant to the jury's consideration of whether Joshlin was being truthful or whether there was a reasonable doubt about his claims.

The misinterpretation of this rule of evidence, reviewed *de novo*, shows that the district court erred in excluding the evidence and on this basis alone the jury's verdict should be reversed.

B. Credibility of Witness Joshlin

"The credibility of a witness may be attacked by any party, including the party calling the witness." Mont. R. Evid. 607. The September 13 incident bears directly on the credibility of Joshlin, and Donahue's right to explore Joshlin's credibility on cross examination of his accusers is protected by both the Montana Constitution's Article II §24, and the Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution.

Although the district court permitted inquiry into Joshlin's lies to police officers, the September incident as a still-pending criminal offense was also

relevant to show why Joshlin might want to curry favor with those same investigating agencies, namely the Bozeman Police Department, who also investigated the current incident.

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