12/10/2024

Bowen Greenwood CLERK OF THE SUPREME COURT STATE OF MONTANA

Case Number: DA 24-0284

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MONTANA No. DA 24-0284

STATE OF MONTANA,

Plaintiff and Appellee,

v.

RYAN PATRICK DONAHUE,

Defendant and Appellant.

BRIEF OF APPELLEE

On Appeal from the Montana Eighteenth Judicial District Court, Gallatin County, The Honorable Peter B. Ohman, Presiding

APPEARANCES:

AUSTIN KNUDSEN Montana Attorney General THAD TUDOR Assistant Attorney General 215 North Sanders P.O. Box 201401 Helena, MT 59620-1401 Phone: 406-444-2026

Phone: 406-444-2026 thad.tudor@mt.gov

AUDREY S. CROMWELL Gallatin County Attorney 1709 W. College, Ste. 200 Bozeman, MT 59715

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

IV. The district court's order denying the motion for a new trial

On February 1, 2024, the district court filed findings of fact and conclusions of law and denied Donahue's motion for a new trial. (Doc. 117.) Citing Johnson's testimony that potential jurors continued to respond over weeks and months, the district court noted that "1) juror responses continued to be submitted to the Clerk's office in August of 2023; and 2) responses continued to arrive during the period when the jury was called on August 15, 2023, and when the trial commenced on September 6, 2023." (*Id.* at 8.)

The district court concluded,

The Clerk's decision to send the certified list of nonresponsive jurors to the GCSO on September 8, 2023, was in substantial compliance with § 3-15-405, MCA. Had the Clerk sent the list earlier it would have resulted in a waste of resources because responses were still being received through early August and up until the Defendant's trial. It makes no sense for the GCSO to expend limited resources tracking down jurors who were in the process of or who had already returned responses.

The absence in § 3-15-405, MCA, of a specific time for when a clerk must certify a list to the Sheriff's office is also reasonable, as it is likely different offices employ different processes and get different results when calling jurors. The record in this case demonstrates time needs to be given for responses to be returned before sending officers out to track down non-responsive jurors. Defendant presented no evidence that a shorter time would have been more reasonable, or even possible.

(*Id.* at 19.)

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The district court correctly ruled that Joshlin's "after the fact" statements to police that Donahue was not aware of at the time he assaulted Joshlin were not admissible. Further, Joshlin's citation for disorderly conduct two months prior to this offense was not probative of untruthfulness. The district court did not abuse its discretion when it limited Donahue's cross-examination of Joshlin to statements about his character that Donahue was aware of and specific instances of conduct that were probative of untruthfulness.

The district court did not abuse its discretion when it determined that the Clerk's Office and GCSO substantially complied with Mont. Code Ann.

§ 3-15-405, and that the 85 jurors drawn for Donahue's trial were randomly drawn and there was "no evidence" that they did not represent a fair cross-section of potential jurors in Gallatin County.

ARGUMENT

I. Standard of review

This Court reviews evidentiary rulings for an abuse of discretion. *State v. Hoff*, 2016 MT 244, ¶ 11, 385 Mont. 85, 385 P.3d 945 (citing *State v. MacKinnon*, 1998 MT 78, ¶ 12, 288 Mont. 329, 957 P.2d 23). A court abuses its discretion if it "acts arbitrarily without conscientious judgment or exceeds the bounds of reason, resulting in substantial injustice." *Hoff*, ¶ 11 (quoting *State v. Henson*, 2010 MT 136, ¶ 19, 356 Mont. 458, 235 P.3d 1274).

This Court reviews a district court's denial of a motion for a new trial for an abuse of discretion. *State v. Gomez*, 2020 MT 73, ¶ 40, 399 Mont. 376, 460 P.3d 926.

- II. The district court correctly limited the cross-examination of Joshlin to exclude post-assault statements and specific instances of conduct that were not probative of truthfulness.
 - A. Joshlin's post-assault statements were not admissible character evidence.

The district court correctly limited evidence of Joshlin's statements to what Donahue had knowledge of at the time of the offense. "Evidence of a pertinent trait of character of the victim" is admissible. Mont. R. Evid. 404(a)(2). Evidence of the victim's character may be presented under either of two methods: (1) reputation or

opinion evidence, or (2) specific instances of conduct. Mont. R. Evid. 405; *State v. Sattler*, 1998 MT 57, ¶ 44, 288 Mont. 79, 956 P.2d 54.

However, "[e]vidence of the character of a victim of an assault is limited to what the defendant knew at the time [he] used force, and the defendant must show that this knowledge led to the use of force." *Henson*, ¶ 27 (citing *Deschon v. State*, 2008 MT 380, ¶ 24, 347 Mont. 30, 197 P.3d 476; *City of Red Lodge v. Nelson*, 1999 MT 246, ¶ 19, 296 Mont. 190, 989 P.3d 300).

Donahue's attorney acknowledged as much, stating:

These specific instances can only be probed into upon Mr. Donahue's claim that this instance made me react the way I did. That's not his claim, but I do believe it's fair game, at this point, to ask Mr. Joshlin about his character for violence, which he repeatedly states to the officers, based on Rule 404(a)(2) and [the] *State v. Sattler* case.

(9/07/23 Tr. at 198 (emphasis added).)

Simply put, it was not possible for Donahue to show that his knowledge of Joshlin's statements, which had not yet been made, caused him to become highly intoxicated and point his handgun in Joshlin's face. Therefore, the district court correctly excluded those post-assault statements as improper evidence of the victim's character.

B. Joshlin's citation for disorderly conduct was not probative of truthfulness or untruthfulness

Montana Rule of Evidence 608(b) provides that, "[s]pecific instances of conduct of a witness, for the purpose of attacking or supporting the witness'

credibility, may not be proved by extrinsic evidence,' but they may, 'in the discretion of the court, *if probative of truthfulness or untruthfulness*, be inquired into on cross examination of the witness concerning the witness' character for truthfulness or untruthfulness." *State v. Quinlan*, 2021 MT 15, ¶ 19, 403 Mont. 91, 479 P.3d 982 (emphasis added).

This Court has explained, "by definition, specific instances of prior conduct probative of a witness's character for untruthfulness narrowly include prior instances where the witness lied, made false reports or accusations, or otherwise acted dishonestly, untruthfully, deceitfully, or fraudulently." *Quinlan*, ¶ 19 (quoting *State v. Pelletier*, 2020 MT 249, ¶ 17, 401 Mont. 454, 473 P.3d 991 (collecting cases)) (emphasis added).

Donahue alleges "[a]lthough the district court permitted inquiry into Joshlin's lies to police officers, the September incident as a still-pending criminal offense was also relevant to show why Joshlin might want to curry favor with those same investigating agencies, namely [BPD], who also investigated the current incident." (Appellant's Br. at 15-16.)

In other words, Donahue contends that further inquiry into a citation for disorderly conduct might have demonstrated that Joshlin wished to endear himself to BPD by accusing an off-duty DEA agent of assault two months later. Donahue

does not present a rational theory on how this might have occurred because one does not exist.

Furthermore, this was not an argument that was presented to the district court. "We additionally have been clear that 'a party may not raise new arguments or change his legal theory on appeal." *State v. Strizich*, 2021 MT 306, ¶ 28, 406 Mont. 391, 499 P.3d 575 (quoting *State v. Bar-Jonah*, 2004 MT 344, ¶ 93, 324 Mont. 278, 103 P.3d 1229).

III. The district court correctly denied Donahue's motion for a new trial

A. Standard for a new trial

Montana Code Annotated § 46-16-702(1) provides trial courts the authority to "grant the defendant a new trial if required in the interests of justice." The court may order a new trial "without a motion or . . . after motion and hearing." Mont. Code Ann. § 46-16-702(1). "A district court's ruling on a motion for a new trial and its decision as to the impartiality of a jury should not be set aside unless there is an abuse of discretion." *State v. Dunfee*, 2005 MT 147, ¶ 14, 327 Mont. 335, 114 P.3d 217 (citing *State v. Azure*, 2002 MT 22, ¶ 30, 308 Mont. 201, 41 P.3d 899; *State v. McMahon*, 271 Mont. 75, 78, 894 P.2d 313 (1995)).

B. Donahue's challenge to the manner in which the jury panel was selected or drawn was untimely.

The procedure for challenging the manner in which a jury panel is drawn or selected is as follows:

- (1) Any objection to the manner in which a jury panel has been selected or drawn must be raised by a motion to discharge the jury panel. Except for good cause shown, the motion must be made at least 5 days prior to the term for which the jury is drawn.
- (2) The motion must be in writing supported by affidavit and must state facts that show that the jury panel was improperly selected or drawn.
- (3) If the motion states facts that show that the jury panel has been improperly selected or drawn, it is the duty of the court to conduct a hearing. The burden of proof is on the movant.
- (4) If the court finds that the jury panel was improperly selected or drawn, the court shall order the jury panel discharged and the selection or drawing of a new panel in the manner provided by law.

Mont. Code Ann. § 46-16-112 (emphasis added).

Here, the beginning of the relevant trial term was on July 1, 2023. (Hr'g at 11.) Orders for jury panels were issued for this case on April 27, 2023, and August 15, 2023. (Docs. 65 and 80, respectfully.) Both orders contained the identical language that

Jurors' names shall be drawn from the computerized database by use of a computerized random selection process as authorized by Section 3-15-503(1)(b), MCA. The Clerk of District Court shall notify jurors by mail of their selection. Any juror indicating unwillingness to serve shall be informed that should they fail to appear they might be taken into custody by the Gallatin County Sheriff and delivered to the court. The Gallatin County Sheriff shall notify any person not responding to the jury notice.

(Doc. 65 at 2-3; Doc. 80 at 1.)

Despite his attorney having input in the number of 85 potential jurors, and being notified how they would be randomly selected, Donahue did not complain about the jury panel until a month after his conviction, on October 10, 2023. (*See* Doc. 100.) Therefore, as the State pointed out, this motion was untimely and should be deemed waived. (*See* Doc. 108 at 4-7.)

C. The Clerk's Office substantially complied with the jury formation statutes.

The district court correctly concluded that the clerk's decision to send the certified list of nonresponsive jurors to the GCSO on September 8, 2023, was in "substantial compliance" with Mont. Code Ann. § 3-15-405. (Doc. 117 at 19.) As the district court pointed out, Mont. Code Ann. § 3-15-405 "contains no time requirement with respect to when the certified list [of non-responsive jurors] must be submitted to a sheriff's office." (*Id.* at 15.) Further,

Had the Clerk sent the list [of non-responsive jurors] earlier it would have resulted in a waste of resources because responses were still being received through early August and up until the Defendant's trial. It makes no sense for the GCSO to expend limited resources tracking down jurors who were in the process of or who had already returned responses.

(Id. at 19; see also Hr'g at 65.)

D. Technical violations of the jury formation statutes are subject to harmless error analysis.

This Court has held that a substantial failure to comply with the jury statutes requires reversal of a conviction, but technical violations that do not threaten the

goals of random selection and objective disqualification are subject to the harmless error standard. *State v. Bearchild*, 2004 MT 355, ¶ 16, 324 Mont. 435, 103 P.3d 1006; *State v. LaMere*, 2000 MT 45, ¶¶ 56-61, 298 Mont. 358, 2 P.3d 204.

In *LaMere*, this Court took "guidance from federal case law developed under the Jury Selection and Service Act of 1968 (JSSA)" to clarify z'the substantial compliance standard." *LaMere*, ¶ 56. To show a violation under the JSSA, "a defendant must show that the government substantially failed to comply with the methods set forth by statute for the selection of the jury." *LaMere*, ¶ 56 (citing 28 U.S.C. § 1867(a) (1994)).

This Court adopted the standard from federal law, which construes a substantial failure to comply as "a violation that contravenes one of two basic principles under the JSSA: (1) random selection of jurors; and (2) determination of juror disqualification, excuses, exemptions, and exclusion on the basis of objective criteria." *LaMere*, ¶ 57 (citing *United States v. Royal*, 174 F.3d 1, 11 (1st Cir. 1999)).

This Court explained that "[a] substantial failure to comply encompasses a statutory violation that affects the random nature or objectivity of the selection process." *LaMere*, ¶ 57 (citation and quotation marks omitted).

However, "technical violations—even numerous such violations—that do not frustrate these goals or result in discrimination and arbitrariness do not

constitute a substantial failure to comply." *LaMere*, ¶ 58. This Court observed that the Commission Comments to Mont. Code Ann. § 46-16-112 provided that "a successful challenge to the jury panel can be founded only upon a '*material departure* from the law' with respect to the manner in which the jury was selected, drawn, or summoned." *LaMere*, ¶ 59 (emphasis in original).

This Court held that summoning potential jurors by telephone materially undermined the goal of the jury selection statutes to provide for random selection of jurors on the basis of objective criteria, requiring reversal. *LaMere*, ¶¶ 17, 75-76. LaMere presented statistics demonstrating a significant percentage of residents in Cascade County were Native American and further, a significant percentage of Native Americans lacked a telephone. *LaMere*, ¶¶ 5-8.

Because LaMere demonstrated the error undermined the random selection of jurors and the removal of jurors based on objective criteria, this Court reversed his conviction based upon that substantial violation of Mont. Code Ann. § 3-15-505 (1997). *LaMere*, ¶¶ 62, 75.

This Court also reversed a conviction in *State v. Highpine*, 2000 MT 368, 303 Mont. 422, 15 P.3d 938, because the clerk served notice on potential jurors by telephone. Like LaMere, Highpine presented statistical analysis demonstrating that the clerk's method of jury formation in that case excluded economically disadvantaged people from the jury. *Highpine*, ¶ 40.

By contrast, statutory violations that did not impact the random nature or objectivity of the jury selection process have been determined to be technical violations, which are not reversible absent a showing of prejudice. "Any error, defect, irregularity or variance that does not affect substantial rights must be disregarded" and "[a] cause may not be reversed by reason of any error committed by the trial court against the convicted person unless the record shows that the error was prejudicial." Mont. Code Ann. § 46-20-701(1)-(2).

For example, this Court found that a judge's improper dismissal of a juror before trial was not a material failure to substantially comply and was harmless because the potential juror would not have served, and her dismissal did not affect the defendant's right to an impartial jury. *Bearchild*, ¶¶ 19-23. Similarly, this Court held an error was harmless when the wrong alternate juror deliberated on the case. *State v. Oschmann*, 2019 MT 33, ¶ 19, 394 Mont. 237, 434 P.3d 280.

As Johnson from the Clerk's Office confirmed, the panel of 85 potential jurors in this case was in fact randomly drawn. (Hr'g at 45.) If there was a technical violation of the statute in certifying the list of non-responsive jurors to GCSO on September 8, 2023, or in allowing potential jurors multiple ways to respond to their notice, there is no evidence that either action affected the random selection and objective disqualification of the potential jurors in this case.

As the district court concluded:

There is *no evidence* that the 85 jurors randomly selected to report to the Court for the jury trial in this case do not represent a fair cross section of the citizens of Gallatin County, Montana. The Court concludes that the manner in which the Clerk's Office and the GCSO acted with respect to the drawing/empaneling of the jury substantially complied with the mandates of § 3-15-405, MCA. The Court further concludes Defendant has not established he was deprived of a fair and impartial jury in this case and, as a result, any error in the drawing/empaneling of the jury was harmless.

(Doc. 117 at 19 (emphasis added).)

CONCLUSION

The district court did not abuse its discretion in limiting Donahue's cross-examination of the victim or denying Donahue's motion for a new trial. The conviction should be affirmed.